**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**DAVID DORELL DORA**

**APPELLANT**

**V.**

**NO. 2008-KA-1020-COA**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

---

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

---

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS  
W. Daniel Hinchcliff, [REDACTED]  
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210  
Jackson, Mississippi 39201  
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for David Dorell Dora

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DAVID DORELL DORA

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-1020-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

**CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

**ISSUE NO. 1 : WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE DEFENSE HAD FAILED TO MAKE A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF RACIAL DISCRIMINATION AFTER THE DEFENSE RAISED A BATSON CHALLENGE TO THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY STRIKES MADE DURING JURY SELECTION.**

**ISSUE NO. 2 : WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY BY REFUSING TO GIVE THE DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION ON CREDIBILITY OF A WITNESS.**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, and a judgement of conviction for the crime of burglary of a business against David Dorell Dora following a jury trial on September 6, 2006, Honorable Lee J. Howard, Circuit Judge, presiding. Mr. Dora was subsequently sentenced to a term of five (5) years incarceration in an institute under the control of Mississippi Department of Corrections with two (2) years of post release supervision.

**FACTS**

The trial began without objection three years after the date of the date of the indictment after multiple orders of continuance upon motion of the defendant. During jury selection, the defense

raised a *Batson* challenge, but the trial court found that the defendant failed to present a prima facie showing of discrimination. While four of five peremptory challenges exercised by the State were for African-Americans, the court found the State left other African-Americans on the jury, and did not use all its challenges.

Trial testimony began with Peggy Webber, the manager of “Dan’s County Line Grocery” in Crawford, Mississippi. She closed the business around 7:00 p.m. on the evening of July 2, 2003. She did not turn on the alarm as it was broken, a fact known only to her, the owner, and the stock-boy, Robert Smith. (T. 92-95) Robert Smith is related to Appellant, David Dorell Dora, [“David Dora”]. (T. 101) As she left, the Dora was outside the business. (T. 95-96)

Early the next morning she got a phone call and rushed to the store. (T. 97) When she got there, “Tommy Earl [Dora] and Barbara [Lagrone]” were there along with a deputy. Tommy Dora and Barbara Lagrone lived in a trailer behind the business. (T.98) She entered the store and found a “big hole” in the wall across from gaming machines. Webber found fireworks on top of one of the machines. The store did not sell fireworks. She also observed that the store’s surveillance camera was “pushed up.” (T. 101)

Tommy Dora testified next (T. 105). He lived behind Dan’s County Line Grocery with Barbara and his mother. Tommy Dora saw his cousin David Dora that day several times. Early in the day David brought Tommy some beer. He came by later and asked for “tools.” (T. 106-108) Tommy noticed “skyrockets” in David’s back pocket. (T. 109) Later that night Tommy heard “bamming.” He looked out of the trailer towards the back of Dan’s County Line Grocery and saw his cousin David “bamming” with something about forty yards away. He knew it was David, by his “Weyerhauser” shirt and Khaki pants . (T. 110-111) He next saw David leaving, “sort of like running.” Tommy heard voices and what sounded like vehicles leaving. Tommy did not have a

phone so he left to find one to call 911. (T. 113-115)

Tommy admitted that he would not talk with David's attorney before the trial on cross examination, and that when he was talking with David's attorney the morning of trial, he walked off when the prosecutor asked to talk to him. (T. 116) He explained why he wouldn't sign a written statement, that David was family. (T. 119)

Barbara Lagrone lived with Tommy. She confirmed that she and Tommy saw David earlier in the day, once when he brought beer and once when he asked for a screw driver. (T. 131-132). She observed firecrackers in one of David's pocket. (T. 133) Later, as she and Tommy were watching "Jerry Springer" on television, she heard noise and she "peeped" out. She saw David laying on the ground messing with the store." (T. 133)

The defense brought out that she is currently on disability for depression. Although Tommy testified that David had mentioned something about David asking if Tommy needed any gas, she did not hear any discussion about propane. None of her testimony was disclosed to the police until February before the trial (T. 135-137)

Chad Bell was an investigator with Lowndes County. (T. 139) The call for Dan's County Line Grocery came in around 1:51 a.m. and he was dispatched to the scene. (T. 140).When he arrived, Tommy was waiting and Deputy Sims arrived shortly thereafter. (T. 140) Bell crawled through the hole into a junk room that contained a bunch of machines, the fronts of which were broken in. (T. 142) He found one exploded firework and several more on top of a machine. (T. 144)

He did not recall Tommy as entering the store and remembered that Tommy told him about the fireworks, not vice versa. (T. 148-150) Thereupon, the State rested. (T. 151) Dora's motion for a directed verdict was denied and the defense commenced its proofs.

Tommy Cooper, was the investigator on this case. He too was dispatched to the scene at 1:51

a.m.. He talked the three deputies and wrote a "synopsis." (T. 155-158) Barbara Lagrone would not talk to him at that time; but did finally tell him her version when he took her statement almost three years later. (T. 159). He took pictures of the hole but did not measure its dimensions. (T. 160-163) He could not recall if it appeared to be beaten in. He found no tools. He didn't ask for a description of what David was wearing. (T. 164) He acknowledged that his report showed Tommy as having found the fireworks, contrary to Tommy's testimony. (T. 167) He arrested David the following day, but didn't conduct any search of his room. (T. 168) He took no fingerprints. (T. 168-169) He was forced to agree that his investigation consisted of little more than taking pictures and talking to Tommy. (T. 170)

The State's attorney attempted to rehabilitate this lack of investigation, by giving Cooper the opportunity to explain why he didn't believe he could recover usable prints. (T. 173) He believed he could not search David's room. (T. 174) Chad bell climbed through the hole, giving him some indication of the size of the hole. (T. 180) He had a picture of David, so he didn't concern himself with the clothes he had on. (T. 184-185)

The parties then worked on jury instructions. There was no objection to either the court's or the state's instructions. However, one of the proposed defense instructions was refused. (T. 191, C.P. 68, R.E. 8) Closing statements were made and the case went to the jury. After a guilty of verdict, a date for sentencing was set, and David Dora was then sentenced to five years with two additional years of supervision.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The defense tendered an instruction on weighing the credibility of a witness which was refused by the court for the reason that it was iterative of the court's instructions and would therefore draw attention or "highlight" the testimony of the State's witnesses. The defense theory of the case

is the unreliability of the State's case which consisted on eyewitness testimony and the virtual absence of further investigation.

The State exercised four of its five peremptory challenges in selecting the jury on veniremen of the same "cognizable racial group" as the defendant. The record of voir dire reveals no reason that said jurors were stricken. The trial court's ruling that the defense had failed to make a prima facie case was contrary to the record.

### ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE NO. 1 : WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE DEFENSE HAD FAILED TO MAKE A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF RACIAL DISCRIMINATION AFTER THE DEFENSE RAISED A BATSON CHALLENGE TO THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY STRIKES MADE DURING JURY SELECTION**

During jury selection, the State exercised four of five peremptory challenges to strike African-Americans from the jury panel. The defendant is an African-American, a racially cognizant group. The defense raised a timely objection to the exclusion of jurors based on race as prohibited by *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986)

The first step when a "*Batson*" challenge is made is that the defendant "establish a prima facie case that race was the criteria for the exercise of the peremptory challenge." *Magee v. State*, 720 So. 2d 186, 188 (Miss. 1988)

To do this, the defendant must show: 1) that he is a member of a "cognizable racial group;" 2) that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges toward the elimination of veniremen of his race; and 3) that facts and circumstances raised an inference that the prosecutor used his peremptory challenges for the purpose of striking minorities.

*Magee*, *Id.* at 188 . As the trial court noted the defendant was a black male. (T. 72) The defense made a record that four of the five peremptory challenges exercised by the State were African-American. Accordingly the first two steps for making a prima facie case has been met. The third prong was

denied by the trial court, ruling that: "I can't see where the State has exercised its five peremptory challenges... in a racially discriminatory manner." (T. 73) However, it argued here, that the record paints a very different picture

The State exercised its first challenge on juror number 4. This juror responded to the prosecutor's inquiry as to whether the juror had any connection with an charge or conviction and would seem to provide a race neutral reason for the jurors exclusion, but the State ignored similarly situated jurors. (T. 35-38) Jurors numbers 2, 7, 14, 15 and 21 all had someone involved with a crime. The court was clearly in a position to take note of these failures to challenge other jurors. Juror 14, Mrs. Love answered at least two voir dire inquiries, but again, both responses were also made by several accepted jurors. Whereas Mrs. Love knew someone in the Office of the District Attorney, so did accepted jurors 6 and 13. And she was also one of those jurors that had some familial criminal connection. The three remaining jurors answered no voir dire questions found by this writer in this record. Therefore the record clearly revealed a pattern of discrimination.<sup>1</sup>

Although great deference is afforded the trial court in deciding whether a prima facie case has been made, the use of seven peremptory challenges out of ten has invoked the next phase of *Batson, Id.*, that of shifting the burden to the State to provide race neutral reasons. *Walters v. State*, 720 So. 2d 856,865 (Miss. 1998) In fact, even one clearly improper peremptory challenge has been held to be sufficient to show an intent to discriminate and to require, according to *Batson, Id.*, that the discrimination be purged or the case reversed. *McGee v. State*, 953 So. 2d 211, 216 (Miss. 2007)

Because McGee's right to equal protection was violated, the entire judicial process was infected, and we must reverse the judgment of

---

<sup>1</sup>The record is silent to the race and gender of the specific named jurors and jurors on the panel. As four of the five stricken were African-American and the jury was predominantly white, some logical inferences must be made in this argument.

conviction and remand for a new trial.

*McGee, Id.*

The record reveals that the threshold of a prima facie case was met. This failure to find a prima facie case of racial discrimination in picking Dora's jury deprived him of a fundamentally fair trial, and therefore the judgment of the lower court should be reversed.

**ISSUE NO. 2 : WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY BY REFUSING TO GIVE THE DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION ON CREDIBILITY OF A WITNESS.**

Dora's attorney tendered an instruction on the credibility of the witnesses. (C.P. 68, R.E. 8) It was in the form offered by the Mississippi Model Jury Instructions, §1:13. It offered very specific instruction in the proper considerations for weighing the credibility of a witness. The trial judge rejected the instruction, although it correctly stated the law and was essential to Dora's defense. The trial court ruled that the instruction was covered in the court's instructions and would draw attention to the State's witnesses as they were the only fact witnesses.

The State's only instruction on credibility is Instruction C.01 (C.P. 58, R.E. 5). As suggested by the following, such a banal instruction on credibility is not sufficient:

The refusal of proposed Instruction D-11 would be error if no other instructions regarding the believability of Poe's testimony were provided to the jury. However, the jury did hear other instructions regarding the credibility of the witnesses and the consideration of conflicts in their testimony. "A [trial] court must view jury instructions as a whole, and not individually, in order to decide whether the jury was adequately instructed." *Chatman v. State*, 761 So.2d 851, 855 (Miss.2000); *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836, 848-49 (Miss.1998). Furthermore, a trial judge is not under an obligation to grant redundant instructions. *Davis v. State*, 568 So.2d 277, 280-81 (Miss.1990). Instruction 13(D-4) provided the following:

As the sole and exclusive judges of the facts, it is for you, and you alone, to determine the credibility or believability of the evidence. It

is for you to determine what witness or witnesses, or other forms of evidence, you will believe, **either in whole or in part**. If upon a consideration of the evidence in this case, you find that there is a conflict in the testimony of the witnesses, it is your duty to settle this conflict. In doing so, you should consider all the factors relevant to determining credibility.

In passing upon credibility, you may consider all the facts and circumstances of the case, **the witness' manner of testifying and demeanor on the stand, their intelligence, their interest or lack of interest, their means and opportunity for knowing the facts to which they testify, the nature of the facts to which they testify and the probability or improbability of their testimony. You may also consider their personal credibility in so far as it may legitimately appear from the trial of this case.**

*Swann v. State*, 806 So.2d 1111, 1117 (Miss. 2002) The minimal and very elementary instruction given by the court only informed the jury that they were the determiner of facts and had the exclusive duty of determining credibility. The trial court did not give an instruction that even remotely resembled “Instruction 13 (D-4)” as set out above.

It is essential to a fair trial that a jury be instructed in the law and that the jury be instructed in the defendant’s “theory” of the case. *Manuel v. State*, 667 So. 2d 590 (Miss. 1995) In the case at bar, the defense theory was that two witnesses who had motive to lie (one of whom only came forward shortly before the trial) and gave impeached and somewhat improbable testimony, combined with an absence of meaningful police investigation created intrinsically reasonable doubt.

Given the critical nature of the credibility of the State’s two eyewitnesses under the defendant’s theory of the case and the absolute right of a defendant to have a jury that is fully instructed in the law, including the law as it pertains to credibility, it was error to refuse the proposed instruction on credibility. While jury instructions are read as a whole, the case should be reversed where the jury instructions do not fairly and adequately instruct the jury. *Moore v. State*, 755 So. 2d

1276 (Miss App. 2000)

In making this argument we are not incognizant of *Randolph v. State*, 924 So. 2d 636 (Miss. App. 2006). However, as is often the case, the credibility issue in *Randolph, Id.* concerns the credibility of the defendant who testifies and denies his prior confession. Here you have two witnesses, essentially joined at the hip, their interest being so similar, who constituted the entirety of the State's case against Dora and who had a clear, and admitted evidence, reason for pinning this crime on someone else, "because everybody going to figure that my family, or me, done did something." (T. 114)

It is accordingly urged that, because credibility of the State's two witnesses was the vast bulk of the State's case, and the cornerstone of the theory of defense, the trial court erred in denying Dora's proposed credibility instruction and thus this case should be reversed and remanded.