# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

.

### **DAVID DORELL DORA**

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1020

APPELLANT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### **APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

# JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE** 

- I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT THE APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF DISCRIMINATION AFTER HIS *BATSON* CHALLENGE.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO GIVE PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION D-2.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, David Dora, was indicted for the crime of business burglary for breaking into Dan's County Line Grocery and stealing money from a poker machine. During jury selection, Dora made a *Batson* challenge arguing that "the State has used four out of its five peremptory strikes on members of the black race of people." (Transcript p. 72). The State responded by stating that it had not used all its challenges and had used one of its challenges to strike a white female. (Transcript p. 72 - 73). The State further noted that it tendered "several African American" potential jurors to

Dora. (Transcript p. 72). After setting forth the requirements for a prima facie case of discrimination, the trial court held that it did not "see where the State exercised its five peremptory challenges as exercised so far in a racially discriminatory manner." (Transcript p. 73). The trial court then overruled Dora's *Batson* challenge. (Transcript p. 73).

At trial, the State presented sufficient evidence establishing that Dora was guilty of business burglary including the testimony of two eyewitnesses who testified that they saw Dora breaking into the business in question. (Transcript p. 110 - 112 and 133 - 134). Dora was convicted and sentenced to serve five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with two years postrelease supervision.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The record does not provide sufficient information regarding the racial makeup of the venire as a whole or the selected jurors to establish that the trial court erred in denying Dora's *Batson* challenge. Further, Dora did not establish a prima facie case of discrimination in the State's selection of jury members and use of peremptory strikes.

The trial court did not err in refusing to grant Dora's proposed jury instruction regarding the credibility of witnesses as the issue was covered elsewhere in the instructions. Moreover, even if it were error, there is no indication in the record that the failure to grant the instruction in any way prejudiced Dora's defense.

2

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT THE APPELLANT FAILED TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF DISCRIMINATION AFTER HIS *BATSON* CHALLENGE.

Dora first raises the following issue on appeal: "whether the trial court erred in ruling that

the defense had failed to make a prima facie case of racial discrimination after the defense raised a

Batson challenge to the State's peremptory strikes made during jury selection." (Appellant's Brief

p. 5). The standard of review in such cases is as follows:

Our standard of review requires reversal only if the factual findings of the trial judge are "clearly erroneous or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Tanner* v. State, 764 So.2d 385 (Miss. 2000). Any determination made by a trial judge under *Batson* is accorded great deference because it is "based, in a large part, on credibility." *Coleman v. State*, 697 So.2d 777, 785 (Miss. 1987) (*disagreed with on other grounds*). In the *Batson* context, the term "great deference" has been defined as meaning an insulation from appellate reversal of any trial findings which are not clearly erroneous. *Lockett v. State*, 517 So.2d 1346, 1349-50 (Miss. 1987).

Moore v. State, 914 So.2d 185, 189 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). As noted by this Court in Knight v. State,

"[t]rust is placed in a trial judge to determine whether a discriminatory motive drives the reasons given for striking a potential juror" and "[o]ne of the reasons the trial court is afforded such deference when a *Batson* challenge is raised is because the demeanor of the attorney making the challenge is often the best evidence on the issue of race neutrality." 854 So2d 17, 22 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Walker v. State*, 815 So.2d 1209 (Miss. 2002)). "Some of the time the unspoken intangible may be the judge's perception of the prosecutor arising from past experience." *Collins v. State*, 817 So.2d 644, 656 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

With that standard in mind, Dora is not entitled to reversal for two reasons. First, the record does not adequately establish the racial makeup of the venire as a whole or the chosen jurors. The only information in the record regarding the racial makeup of the selected jury and those potential

jurors who were stricken by the State is as follows:

- a. Four of the State's five peremptory strikes were against African American potential jurors. (Transcript p. 71 72).
- b. The fifth peremptory strike made by the State was against a Caucasian female. (Transcript p. 73).
- c. The State tendered "several" African American jurors to the defendant. (Transcript p. 72).

Dora asserts in footnote 1 on page 6 of his brief that "the jury was predominantly white;" however, the State is unable to find in the record any indication of the racial makeup of the jury. Moreover, the record is silent as to the racial makeup of the venire as a whole. Thus, there is insufficient information in the record to support Dora's assignment of error on appeal. *See Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 318, 319 (Miss. 1983); *Jackson v. State*, 684 So.2d 1213, 1223 -1224 (Miss.1996); and *Hansen v. State*, 592 So.2d 114, 127 (Miss. 1991). Furthermore, "there is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct and the burden is on the Appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court." *Acker v. State*, 797 So.2d 966, 971 (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Branch v. State*, 347 So.2d 957, 958 (Miss.1977)).

Second, Dora failed to establish there was a prima facie case of discrimination. In order to establish a prima facie case, Dora "was required to show: (1) that he is a member of a 'cognizable racial group;' (2) that the proponent has exercised peremptory challenges toward the elimination of veniremen of his race; and (3) that facts and circumstances raised an inference that the proponent used his peremptory challenges for the purpose of striking minorities." *Puckett v. State*, 788 So.2d 752, 756 (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 97, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 1723, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986)). "The pivotal question is 'whether the opponent of the strike has met the burden of showing that proponent has engaged in a pattern of strikes based on race or gender, or in other words, the totality of the relevant facts gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose." *Id.* at

#### 757. As this Court noted in *Chandler v. State*, the Fifth Circuit has held that:

To establish a prima facie case, a party is required to show that the circumstances surrounding the peremptory challenges raise an inference of purposeful discrimination. The trial court should consider all relevant circumstances in determining whether a prima facie *Batson* violation can be established. Factors that give rise to an inference of discrimination include, among others, a pattern of strikes against jurors of a certain race and the party's statements and questions during voir dire. "A prima facie case of racial discrimination requires a defendant to 'come forward with facts, not just numbers alone.' "In this circuit, a trial court's determination that a party has failed to make a prima facie showing is accorded a "presumption of correctness, which can only be rebutted by 'clear and convincing evidence.'"

967 So.2d 47, 52-53 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Brown v. Kinney Shoe Corp.*, 237 F.3d 556, 561 (5th Cir. 2001)) (*Emphasis added*). Dora's only argument in support of his contention that the State was discriminatory in its use of peremptory strikes was the fact that "four of the five peremptory challenges exercised by the State were African American." (Appellant's Brief p. 5). However, as this Court held in *Gilbert v. State*, "[t]he number of peremptory strikes which the State used against the minority members, standing alone, is insufficient to establish an inference to a pattern of purposeful discrimination." 934 So.2d 330, 337 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Dennis v. State*, 555 So.2d 679, 681 (Miss. 1989)). Moreover, as noted in *Collins v. State*, the test is simply whether Dora has shown that the State had an established "pattern of striking all or almost all of a certain racial group." 817 So.2d 644, 656 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The record does not indicate that Dora attempted to strike all or almost all of the African American prospective jurors. Additionally, the State did not use all of its peremptory challenges and tendered several potential jurors to Dora that were African American. (Transcript p. 72).

Accordingly, Dora's first issue is without merit as the record does not adequately establish the racial makeup of the venire as a whole or the chosen jurors and as Dora failed to establish that there was a prima facie case of discrimination.

# **II.** THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO GIVE PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION D-2.

Dora also raises the following issue on appeal: "whether the trial court erred to properly

instruct the jury by refusing to give the Defendant's proposed instruction on credibility of a witness."

(Appellant's Brief p. 7). Dora's proposed instruction reads as follows:

Each person testifying under oath is a witness. You have the duty to determine the believability of the witnesses. In performing this duty, you must consider each witness's intelligence, the witness's ability to observe and accurately remember, the witness's sincerity, and the witness's demeanor while testifying. You must consider also the extent the witness is either supported or contradicted by other evidence; the relationship the witness may have with either side; and how the witness might be affected by the verdict. You must consider any evidence of the witness's character for truthfulness.

In weighing a discrepancy by a witness or between witnesses, you should consider whether it resulted from an innocent mistake or a deliberate falsehood, and whether it pertains to a matter of importance or an unimportant detail.

You may accept all or any part of a witness's testimony and you may reject part and accept other parts of a witness's testimony.

After making your own judgment, you will give the testimony of each witness the credibility, if any, as you may think it deserves.

The weight of the evidence is not necessarily determined by the number of witnesses testifying as to the existence or non-existence of any fact. You may find that the testimony of a smaller number of witnesses as to any fact is more credible than the testimony of a larger number of witnesses to the contrary.

(Record p. 68). The trial court did, however, give the following instruction with regard to witness

credibility and the jury's role in that regard:

\* \* \*

It is your duty to determine the facts and to determine them from the evidence produced in open court. You are to apply the law to the facts and in this way decide the case. You should not be influenced by bias, sympathy, or prejudice. Your verdict should be based on the evidence and not upon speculation, guesswork, or conjecture. You are the sole judges of the facts in this case. Your exclusive province is to determine what weight and what credibility will be assigned the testimony and supporting evidence of each witness in this case. You are required and expected to use your good common sense and sound honest judgment in considering and weighing the testimony of each witness who has testified in this case.

(Record p. 58 - 59). In addressing this issue, it is first important to point out that the Mississippi Supreme Court recently held that "in determining whether error exists in granting or refusing jury instructions, the instructions must be read as a whole; <u>if the instructions fairly announce the law and create no injustice</u>, no reversible error will be found." *Jones v. State*, 962 So.2d 1263, 1272 (Miss. 2007) (quoting *Martin v. State*, 854 So.2d 1004, 1009 (Miss. 2003)) (*emphasis added*).

Dora argues that he was entitled to a theory of defense instruction and that his "defense theory was that two witnesses who had motive to lie" testified that they saw Dora breaking into the store in question. (Appellant's Brief p. 8). Mississippi law is clear that "[a] defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence." *Jones v. State*, 912 So.2d 501, 505-06 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Harris v. State*, 861 So.2d 1003, 1012-13 (Miss.2003)) (*emphasis added*). The trial court instructed the jury regarding its duties in determining the credibility of witnesses as set forth above. Moreover, as set forth below, Dora was allowed to explore his theory of the defense - that these two witnesses had motive to lie - during both the cross-examination of the witnesses and during closing arguments.

Dora also argues that according to *Swann v. State*, 806 So.2d 1111, 1117 (Miss. 2002), the trial court's instruction did not fully instruct the jury as did the instruction given in the *Swann* case. (Appellant's Brief p. 7 - 8). However, the *Swann* case concerns the denial of an instruction regarding the testimony of a witness with prior inconsistent statements. The witnesses in the case at hand did not have prior inconsistent statements. Furthermore, Dora was given an opportunity to cross examine each of these witnesses about their alleged "motive to lie" (*see e.g.* Transcript p. 117, 123, 128 - 129, and 137) and was also allowed to discuss it in closing (*see e.g.* Transcript p. 207 - 209)

7

and 214 - 215) just as the defendant in *Swann*. 806 So.2d at 1117. As such, "given the jury instructions, the cross-examination of [both witnesses], and [Dora's] closing argument, it is reasonable to believe that the jury did take [the witnesses' alleged motive to lie] into account." *Id.* 

Accordingly, not only did the trial court not err in refusing to grant Dora's instruction but there is no evidence whatsoever from the record as a whole indicating that Dora's defense was in any way prejudiced by the trial court's decision to deny this instruction. Mississippi law is clear that in order for this Court to reverse a case there must be both error and a resulting injury. *Vardaman v. State*, 966 So.2d 885, 891 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In other words, "[a]n error is only grounds for reversal if it affects the final result of the case." *Id.* Even after being confronted with Dora's theory that these two witnesses had motive to lie during cross-examinations and during closing and with the instructions given in mind, the jury still found the witnesses believable and accepted their testimony along with the other evidence and found Dora guilty. Being instructed regarding the credibility of witnesses in a different way would certainly not have changed the outcome of this case. As there is no indication that the trial court's holding with regard to this instruction affected the final outcome of the case, this issue is without merit.